STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
SEP 20 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRY EDWARD MCCALL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001097

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2946, South Carolina's implied consent statute, is unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment because it operates as a *per se* exception to the warrant requirement in violation of Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141 (2013)?

2.

Whether the trial judge erred by denying Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence obtained from the warrantless collection of his blood and urine where law enforcement was required to obtain a warrant before directing hospital personnel to collect a blood and urine sample from Appellant since there were no exigent circumstances to justify the warrantless search, and since Appellant did not consent, and if he did consent, his consent was not freely and voluntarily given?

3.

Whether the trial judge abused his discretion by denying Appellant's motion for a continuance where "good cause" existed since the judge granted Appellant's motion to relieve counsel midtrial, even though it was timely filed six weeks before the start of trial, but refused to permit Appellant adequate time to retain other counsel, and where Appellant was prejudiced because he was ultimately forced to proceed *pro se* with stand by counsel who was unfamiliar with his case and the prior proceedings?

4.

Whether Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated when the trial judge granted Appellant's motion to relieve counsel without conducting a proper hearing pursuant to

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975) or advising Appellant of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on February 19, 2013 for felony DUI resulting in great bodily injury. R. 496-497. His case was called to trial on May 12, 2015 before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Sara Lee Drawdy and Stan Overby represented the state, and Randy Chambers represented Appellant. R. 1. On the morning of the second day of trial, Judge Stilwell granted Appellant's motion to relieve counsel, but denied his motion for a continuance. R. 129, ll. 6-10. Consequently, Appellant proceeded *pro se*. Jake Erwin was appointed as standby counsel. R. 130, ll. 10-12. On May 14, 2015, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 327, l. 24 – 328, l. 6. He was sentenced to fifteen years imprisonment. R. 333, ll. 19-23.

On May 20, 2015, Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal. The Office of Appellate Defense undertook representation of Appellant and requested the trial transcript. Over a year later, the Office of Appellate Defense received an incomplete transcript. At a minimum, the transcript was missing the complete testimony of six witnesses and the partial testimony of two witnesses.

On September 29, 2016, Appellant filed a motion with this Court seeking to remand his case to the trial court to reconstruct the record. By order filed November 4, 2016, this Court granted Appellant's motion and remanded the case.

On March 14, 2017, a hearing was held in Greenville County before Judge Stilwell to reconstruct the record. R. 369. Assistant Solicitors Sara Lee Drawdy, Stan Overby, and Judy Munson represented the state, and Appellate Defender John Strom represented Appellant. R. 369. At the beginning of the hearing, Appellant moved to have the assistant solicitors who represented the state at trial recused because they were witnesses for purposes of the

reconstruction hearing. R. 373, ll. 2-21. However, Judge Stilwell denied the motion. R. 373, l. 22 – 375, l. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Stilwell orally ruled the record of Appellant's trial had been sufficiently reconstructed to allow for meaningful appellate review. R. 466, l. 24 – 469, l. 10.

By letter dated August 25, 2017, Appellate Defender John Strom notified this Court that Appellant wished to waive his right to challenge Judge Stilwell's oral ruling that the record of his trial had been sufficiently reconstructed to allow for meaningful appellate review. Enclosed within this letter was an affidavit signed by Appellant McCall confirming his desire not to appeal Judge Stilwell's ruling.

By letter dated September 6, 2017, in response to Appellant's August 25, 2017 letter and accompanying affidavit, this Court directed Appellant to file a motion. On October 11, 2017, undersigned counsel was assigned to represent Appellant after Appellate Defender John Strom left the Office of Appellate Defense. On October 18, 2017, Appellant filed a motion to accept his decision not to appeal the ruling reconstructing the record. By order filed November 16, 2017, this Court granted Appellant's motion.

This appeal from Appellant's conviction and sentence follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Facts Presented at Trial

On March 4, 2012, at approximately 5:50 p.m., a traffic collision occurred between Appellant and Robert Suddeth near the intersection of S.C. 291 and Worley Road in Greenville, South Carolina. Prior to the collision, Appellant was traveling northbound on S.C. 291 and Mr. Suddeth was traveling southbound. Appellant, who was driving a Ford Explorer, traveled left of the centerline, crossed the median, and struck Mr. Suddeth's Chevrolet pickup truck head on. R. 105, l. 22 – 106, l. 15. Both men were entrapped in their respective vehicles and had to be removed by the fire department and emergency personnel. R. 154, l. 4 – 155, l. 13; R. 159, ll. 10-18; R. 165, l. 8 – 166, l. 1.

Appellant was transported to Greenville Memorial Hospital at 6:29 p.m. by ambulance. R. 146, l. 20 – 147, l. 12. Before he was transported, Sergeant Wes Hiatt of the South Carolina Highway Patrol spoke to Appellant in the back of the ambulance. Appellant denied he had been drinking and told Hiatt that his brakes failed. Hiatt claimed that during his discussion with Appellant, he noticed Appellant's eyes were "glassy and his pupils were dilated." R. 167, l. 7 – 169, l. 5. However, Hiatt did not smell any alcohol on Appellant's person. After speaking with Appellant, Sergeant Hiatt told Trooper David McAlhaney, the primary investigator, that, while he did not think Appellant had been drinking, he suspected Appellant was "on some kind of drug." R. 169, ll. 6-9. His opinion was based not only on his observation of Appellant in the back of the ambulance, but also based on the nature of the car accident in which Appellant crossed the centerline. R. 171, l. 16 – 172, l. 18.

As the primary investigator, Trooper McAlhaney spent close to two hours at the location of the collision. He interviewed two witnesses who confirmed what McAlhaney suspected

occurred based on his observation of the accident scene and the location of the vehicles. The witnesses maintained Appellant's Ford Explorer crossed the median dividing the northbound and southbound lanes of traffic and struck Mr. Suddeth's Chevrolet pickup truck head on "for no reason that they could see." R. 176, l. 7 – 177, l. 5.

In addition to Sergeant Hiatt and Trooper McAlhaney, there were approximately *eight* other troopers with the highway patrol at the scene to assist in the investigation. R. 165, ll. 5-7. The Major Accident Investigation Team (MAIT) of the Highway Patrol also responded.

After McAlhaney completed his investigation at the accident location, he travelled to the hospital where he interviewed Appellant. Appellant was lying on a stretcher in the hallway of the critical care unit. R. 177, ll. 6-24. Appellant told McAlhaney that there were no calipers on the wheels of his vehicle which hold the brake pads in place. Consequently, Appellant maintained his vehicle did not have any operable brakes at the time of the collision. R. 178, ll. 1-6. He denied drinking any alcohol, but allegedly admitted to taking prescription medication. R. 178, ll. 9-22. McAlhaney claimed Appellant appeared "sleepy" and believed "something wasn't right" because of Appellant's reaction when he was asked a question. Appellant allegedly would "open his eyes real wide" before answering each of McAlhaney's questions. R. 178, ll. 13-18.

Based on Trooper McAlhaney's investigation at the accident location and his observations of Appellant, he decided to arrest Appellant for felony DUI resulting in great bodily injury. R. 179, ll. 14-25. Appellant was arrested at 8:13 p.m. R. 183, ll. 18-20. McAlhaney claimed that after he notified Appellant of his arrest, he advised him of the implied consent statute and told Appellant that, pursuant to the statute, he "must submit to either one or a combination of chemical tests for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol, drugs or a combination of alcohol and drugs." McAlhaney claimed he read the complete advisement form

as required by the implied consent statute, gave Appellant a copy, and asked him to sign “acknowledging receipt.” R. 180, l. 1 – 182, l. 2. According to McAlhaney, Appellant signed the form and agreed to give a blood and urine sample. R. 181, l. 22 – 182, l. 18. McAlhaney then found a nurse to collect the samples. Appellant’s urine sample was collected at 8:45 p.m. and his blood sample was collected at 9:05 p.m. R. 184, l. 14 – 185, l. 22.

Appellant’s blood sample was later analyzed by a forensic toxicologist at the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED). It tested positive for methamphetamine and benzodiazepines, including Lorazepam and Klonopin. R. 243, ll. 11-12; R. 248, ll. 6-15. These results were confirmed after an analysis of Appellant’s urine sample. R. 249, ll. 2-21.

After a three day trial, the jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of felony DUI resulting in great bodily injury. R. 327, l. 24 – 328, l. 6.

Motion to Relieve Counsel and Motion for a Continuance

Appellant filed a *pro se* motion to relieve counsel on March 27, 2015, approximately six weeks before trial. R. 494. For whatever reason, a hearing on Appellant’s motion was never heard and a ruling was never made. On the morning of the second day of trial, Appellant renewed his motion to relieve counsel. Randy Chambers, Appellant’s then counsel, informed the trial judge:

He [Appellant] summoned me back this morning saying that he needed to talk to me and has told me that he feels I am not doing an adequate job. He doesn’t want me to represent him anymore. I’ll let him state what his reasons [are] more but he made statements that led me to believe that my continuance as an attorney basically would put me in jeopardy as far as allegations he planned to make against me. So *I think he has created a conflict between us.*

He clearly does not want me to continue as his lawyer and it’s my understanding that he wants the Court to grant him a continuance and allow him to hire an attorney . . .

R. 122, ll. 6-22 (emphasis added).

Appellant informed the judge that he “filed a motion to relieve Mr. Chambers back in March.” R. 122, l. 24 – 123, l. 1. Appellant then orally renewed his motion to relieve counsel arguing that he and Chambers had a conflict that could not be resolved. Appellant emphasized that the trial started without a hearing ever being held on his motion to relieve counsel and he never got “to be heard in relation to it.” He strongly asserted that he “was supposed to be heard on the motion first” before the trial began. R. 123, l. 3 – 125, l. 23. Chambers then joined in Appellant’s motion stating that he did not believe he could “effectively represent him anymore.” R. 125, l. 24 – 126, l. 5.

Appellant again stated that he wished for Chambers to be relieved and moved for a continuance so that he could retain other counsel. The trial judge denied the motion for a continuance asserting Appellant “waited until we have impaneled a jury” and “begun the presentation of evidence.” R. 126, l. 17 – 128, l. 25.

When asked by the trial judge, Appellant asserted that he was not willing to assume the risks of proceeding *pro se*. R. 127, l. 23 – 128, l. 6. As far as the possible appointment of stand by counsel, Appellant stated, “I’m going to leave that up to you, Judge.” R. 128, l. 7 – 129, l. 5. The judge then ruled: “Mr. Chambers, I’m going to relieve you as counsel in this case. Would you please ask the public defender to send someone to the courtroom to sit with him [Appellant] and answer and address any questions that he may have during this trial?” R. 129, ll. 6-11. A break in the proceedings then occurred.

After the break, the judge stated, “I believe the record speaks for itself with respect to what has transpired. I will state that we conducted a hearing in accordance with Faretta v. California and I have made a determination that the waiver of prior counsel has been made

knowingly and intelligently and that the defendant does have a right to proceed pro se.” R. 130, ll. 2-8.

The trial judge ultimately appointed Jake Erwin of the Greenville County Public Defender Office as stand by counsel. R. 130, ll. 8-12. In so doing, he stated, “Mr. Erwin’s duties with respect to his representation and assistance of Mr. McCall [Appellant] shall be to answer any questions and to assist in any way that you feel is - - each of you feels is necessary. I will also say, Mr. Erwin, to the extent that you feel it is necessary [and] appropriate, I’ll allow you to participate in the trial. However, I am not suggesting that you should or that it [is] appropriate that you will. I’m just giving you that leeway. Each of you can make that decision as you go forward in this case.” R. 130, ll. 13-22.

Before the trial resumed, Appellant vehemently asserted, “I am not waiving my right to counsel.” R. 130, ll. 23-24. He exclaimed, “I didn’t ask to represent myself . . . You’re forcing me.” R. 132, ll. 16-22.

In response to Appellant’s assertions, the trial judge stated:

I’ve also held a hearing in accordance with State versus Fuller, 523 S.E.2d 168.¹ In this case there has been a request for relief of counsel during the pendency of the case after the jury had been impaneled and after the presentation of a significant and substantial amount of evidence. It is within the discretion of a trial judge to grant the motion for the relief of counsel during the pendency of the proceeding and I’ve elected to do that based on the totality of the circumstances.

I find specifically that the motion was ill-timed and that the ultimate end of the motion to continue and the motion for relief of counsel is to delay and hinder the administration of justice.

I will tell you the continuance of this case would have a significant prejudicial effect on the state because the state has subpoenaed all of its witnesses which are substantial in amount, over 40 in reading the witness list. Also, the defendant has had the opportunity to witness and view a specific amount of

¹ State v. Fuller, 337 S.C. 236, 523 S.E.2d 168 (1999).

presentation of the case to include all of its tactical proceedings in opening statements and its order and method of presentation of evidence.

R. 130, l. 25 – 131, l. 23.

The trial then resumed with Appellant *pro se* and Jake Erwin acting as standby counsel.

R. 134, ll. 5-24. During the remainder of the trial, Erwin engaged in improper hybrid representation. Both Erwin and Appellant cross examined witnesses, voiced objections, and raised motions. Erwin gave the closing argument. See R. 309, l. 14 – 314, l. 13.

ARGUMENT

1.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2946, South Carolina’s implied consent statute, is unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment because it operates as a *per se* exception to the warrant requirement in violation of *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013).

How the Issue was Presented Below

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress the evidence obtained from an analysis of his blood and urine samples, which were collected without a warrant pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2946. He argued § 56-5-2946, our state’s implied consent statute, is unconstitutional under the United States Supreme Court’s holding in Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141 (2013), which held “a warrantless search of a person is reasonable only if it falls within a recognized exception” to the warrant requirement. Partly quoting the Court in McNeely, Counsel for Appellant asserted “that in drunk driving investigations, the natural dissipation of alcohol, or we can argue by extrapolating drugs in the blood stream, does not constitute an [exigency] in every case sufficient for conducting a blood test without a warrant.” R. 6, l. 15 – 7, l. 11. Counsel argued there was no way to read McNeely and not conclude that a “statute that allows for a warrantless intrusion into the body of a defendant . . . is unconstitutional.” R. 7, ll. 12-17.

The state argued in return that McNeely “has no effect on [§ 56-5-2946] in terms of its constitutionality.” R. 10, ll. 14-16. The assistant solicitor stressed that in South Carolina all statutes are presumed constitutional and are to “be construed so as to render them valid.” R. 15, l. 22 – 16, l. 1. Additionally, the solicitor asserted that implied consent statutes have “withstood constitutional muster” by the United States Supreme Court and that the Court in McNeely even referenced “implied consent statutes as a means by which states can obtain this evidence.” R.

15, ll. 17-21. The state filed a Brief in Opposition to Suppression of Blood and Urine Samples and Analysis, which was marked as Court's Exhibit No. 2. See R. 336.

The trial judge ultimately found the statute was constitutional. He ruled:

With respect to the unconstitutionality of the statute per McNeeley, . . . I believe the responsive case in this instance is [Schmerber]. When you look at McNeeley, I don't think it changes the state of the law with regard to drug samples and illegal search and seizures related to the blood sample in DUI cases. I think it simply clarifies [Schmerber] versus California.²

In [Schmerber], there's a portion in the case which suggests if taken to its logical conclusion that because of the dissipation of the half life of alcohol in the system that there's an argument that could be made that you could take a drug sample under any set of circumstances. I think that McNeeley if you read it in its entirety essentially it's clarifying that to say that [Schmerber] does not stand for the proposition that you can pull a blood test under any set of circumstances in a DUI case. What it says is you look at the totality of the circumstances and you may be able to and you may not be able to.

However, such as in the case of McNeeley, an officer can't simply redirect to the hospital because he's gotten a clear indication from the defendant that he won't take a Breathalyzer test, which is what had happened, which is clearly unconstitutional.

However, when you look at [Schmerber], the facts are very similar and the distinguishing fact in [Schmerber] was there actually was an objection to taking the blood and notwithstanding the objection to take the blood, it still allowed that evidence to be admissible.

I also say one additional thing with respect to the illegal search and seizure and the nonconsensual taking of a blood sample. One thing that distinguish[es] this case in the State of South Carolina from the cases that were before the Supreme Court is that there is an implied consent statute. It's a specific statutory mechanism for felony DUI which means you do apply the implied consent to the taking of a blood sample in the event of the felony DUI.

Now, the Supreme Court may look at that and say that is, in keeping with McNeeley and with [Schmerber], unconstitutional but that will be a decision for them to make. I presume it's constitutional at inception and find that there was an implied consent under the statute in the State of South Carolina.

R. 78, l. 20 – 80, l. 15.

² Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966).

Discussion

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2946, also known as the implied consent statute, states in relevant part:

- (A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person *must* submit to either one or a combination of chemical tests of his breath, blood, or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs if there is probable cause to believe that the person violated or is under arrest for a violation of Section 56-5-2945 [felony DUI].

- (B) The tests must be administered at the direction of a law enforcement officer. The administration of one test does not preclude the administration of other tests. *The resistance, obstruction, or opposition to testing pursuant to this section is evidence admissible at the trial of the offense which precipitated the requirement for testing.* A person who is tested or gives samples for testing may have a qualified person of his choice conduct additional tests at his expense and must be notified of that right. A person's request or failure to request additional blood or urine tests is not admissible against the person in the criminal trial.

(emphasis added).

This statute is unconstitutional because it acts as a *per se* exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment.

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