ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-001097

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

vs.

TERRY EDWARD MCCALL,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
SFP 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

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

II. The trial court properly denied the motion for a continuance in the middle of trial where the motion was solely for the purpose of delay.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in denying his request for a continuance after trial had already started to obtain counsel. The trial court did not err in denying the request when it was made for the purpose of delay, no actual conflict of interest existed between Appellant and his counsel, and the denial was entirely discretionary on the part of the trial court.

Standard of Review

“The trial court’s denial of a motion for a continuance will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.” State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 208, 656 S.E.2d 359, 369 (2008) (citing State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 21, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002)). “An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012). “Reversals of refusal of a continuance are about as rare as the proverbial hens’ teeth.” State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 21, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002) (citing State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 95 S.E.2d 857 (1957)).

Merits

Appellant asserts the trial court erred in denying his motion for a continuance to obtain new counsel. No actual conflict of interest existed between Appellant and his counsel, and none has been alleged. Further, Appellant’s actions in relieving counsel and seeking a continuance were merely to delay the trial and impede the administration of justice.

In the instant case, Appellant filed a motion to relieve counsel and proceed *pro se* several months before trial. The motion was never ruled on and did not assert any type of actual conflict of interest. The motion merely indicated he desired to represent himself and would accept counsel as standby counsel. (Motion to Relieve Counsel; R.494). Between March 27, when he

filed his motion, and May 12, when trial began, Appellant took no further steps to either obtain counsel of his choice or to reassert his desire to proceed *pro se*. Significantly, trial started with Appellant represented by appointed counsel without any objection from Appellant. It was only after one day and several rulings went against Appellant that he sought to relieve counsel.

Also significant, it was only in the middle of trial and during his request to relieve counsel, that Appellant first expressed any desire to obtain his own counsel. As stated, his motion was not a motion to relieve counsel to obtain his own. He did not move before trial or even at the beginning of trial to obtain counsel. It was only after the trial court ruled against him on several grounds that he expressed any dissatisfaction with his appointed counsel and sought to obtain counsel of his own. His motion came after pretrial motions, after opening statement by both parties, after hearing the testimony of several State's witnesses, and after the admission of twenty-five State's exhibits. (See e.g., T.2-3; R.2-3).

Additionally, the trial court, who was present to consider the demeanor of the parties and the nature of the request for a continuance, concluded "specifically that the motion was ill-timed and that the ultimate end of a motion to continue and a motion for relief of counsel is to delay and hinder the administration of justice." (T.176; R.131). The trial court did not abuse its wise discretion in denying a motion for a continuance when its sole purpose was a dilatory tactic by Appellant after receiving several unfavorable rulings.

Finally, as the trial court concluded any continuance in the middle of trial would have had a significant prejudicial effect on the State. (T.176; R.131). The State's witnesses were present and ready to testify and the delay to obtain counsel would not have been merely for a day, but would have required new counsel to obtain the file and become prepared to go forward. Further, Appellant was privy to opening statements, pretrial motions, and several witnesses before

seeking the continuance which would have allowed additional time to prepare his response to the State's case. The Appellant should not be able to hamstring a trial by waiting until the middle of trial and seeking to relieve counsel and force a continuance by not being willing to either cooperate with current appointed counsel or going forward pro se. If this Court sanctions the behavior of Appellant and finds a continuance was required, every criminal trial in South Carolina can be halted by a defendant's behavior and refusal to accept any outcome other than a continuance. Accordingly, this Court should find this case does not present the situation of the proverbial hens' teeth and conclude the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the mid-trial motion for a continuance by Appellant.

III. The trial court was not required to conduct a Faretta hearing and provide the full Faretta warnings because Appellant did not waive his right to counsel through a request. Instead, the trial court properly found Appellant waived his right to counsel through his conduct or otherwise forfeited his right to counsel.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to conduct a proper hearing in accordance with Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). The trial court properly considered Appellant's request to relieve counsel; warned him that he could only proceed with Mr. Chambers or go forward *pro se*; warned him of the dangers of proceeding *pro se*; and, when Appellant continued to attempt to delay and hinder the trial, found he should go forward *pro se* with standby counsel.

Standard of Review

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently articulated the standard of review to use when considering whether a proper Faretta hearing took place:

Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo. Specifically, we review a circuit judge's findings of historical fact for clear error; however, we review the denial of the right of self-representation based upon those findings of fact de novo. In doing so, this Court must consider the defendant's testimony, history, and the circumstances of his decision, as presented to the circuit judge at the time the defendant made his request.

State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (internal citations omitted).

Additionally, this Court has explained: "A motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the [circuit court] and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Childers, 373 S.C. 367, 372, 645 S.E.2d 233, 235 (2007).

Merits

The Sixth Amendment mandates that in all criminal proceedings, the accused shall have the right to the assistance of counsel for his defense. U.S. Const. amend. VI. Furthermore, an indigent defendant is entitled to have an attorney appointed by the court to represent him. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344 (1963). “The right of an accused to effective assistance of counsel, however, does not extend to the appointment of counsel of choice, or to special rapport or even a meaningful relationship with appointed counsel.” State v. Boykin, 324 S.C. 552, 555, 478 S.E.2d 689, 690 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14 (1983)).

“The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of our Constitution guarantee that a person brought to trial in any state or federal court must be afforded the right to the assistance of counsel before he can be validly convicted and punished by imprisonment.” Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807 (1975). “Courts have recognized three ways in which a defendant may relinquish his right to counsel: (1) waiver by an affirmative, verbal request; (2) waiver by conduct; and (3) forfeiture.” State v. Roberson, 382 S.C. 185, 187, 675 S.E.2d 732, 733 (2009) (citing Boykin, 324 S.C. at 556, 478 S.E.2d at 690).

Faretta and Voluntary Waiver

A defendant may waive the right to counsel. “It is the trial court’s responsibility to determine whether there was a knowing and intelligent waiver by the accused.” State v. Bryant, 383 S.C. 410, 414, 680 S.E.2d 11, 13 (Ct. App. 2009); see also, State v. Dixon, 269 S.C. 107, 236 S.E.2d 419 (1977) (“It is beyond question that an accused person may waive counsel and represent himself. However, it is the responsibility of the trial judge to determine whether there is or is not an intelligent and competent waiver.”). “To effectuate a valid waiver, the accused must (1) be advised of the right to counsel and (2) be adequately warned of the dangers of self

representation.” Bryant, 383 S.C. at 414, 680 S.E.2d at 13 (citing State v. McLauren, 349 S.C. 488, 493 94, 563 S.E.2d 346, 348 49 (Ct. App. 2002)); see also, Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835.

Faretta requires a defendant “be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self representation so that the record will establish he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.” 422 U.S. at 835. “While a specific inquiry by the trial judge expressly addressing the disadvantages of a *pro se* defense is preferred, the ultimate test is not the trial judge’s advice but rather the defendant’s understanding.” Wroten v. State, 301 S.C. 293, 294, 391 S.E.2d 575, 576 (1990). Additionally, if a defendant relinquishes his right to counsel by either waiver by conduct or forfeiture, the underlying necessity of the warnings encapsulated in Faretta are not required. See Roberson, 382 S.C. at 188, 675 S.E.2d at 733.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to conduct a proper hearing pursuant to Faretta or advising Appellant of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. The colloquy in this case presents a highly unusual set of circumstances and not the normal request of a defendant to proceed *pro se*. The defendant in this case exclusively sought to force a continuance of his trial, which had already begun the day before, instead of being willing to either proceed with appointed counsel, Mr. Chambers, or proceed *pro se*. His colloquy with the trial court does not indicate Appellant’s desire to waive his right to counsel by an affirmative, verbal request. While he initially indicated he would rather proceed *pro se* than be represented by counsel, he later indicates repeatedly his desire not to proceed without counsel. (T.167-178). Throughout the entire colloquy he is insistent that he not be represented by Mr. Chambers, but refuses to allow for any alternative except for a continuance seeking to delay trial. (See e.g., T.169, 173; R.124, 128).

As a result, the trial court's decision to have Appellant proceed *pro se* was not based on his voluntary request, but instead based on either his forfeiture of his right to counsel or his waiver of that right by his conduct. The trial court specifically noted: "the ultimate end of a motion to continue and a motion for relief of counsel is to delay and hinder the administration of justice." (T.176; R.131). The trial court later found: "You are in an uncomfortable position as a consequence of your own conduct. . . . As the sole and exclusive consequence of your own conduct." (T.177-178; R.132-33).

Faretta, however, is inapposite to the facts of the instant case when there was no unequivocal request to proceed *pro se*. See, e.g., Robards v. Rees, 789 F.2d 379, 383 (6th Cir.1986) (noting exception to application of Faretta where "prosecution makes an affirmative showing that the defendant's request for self-representation is merely a tactic to secure a delay in the proceeding"); State v. Jones, 546 P.2d 45, 51 (Ariz.Ct.App.1976) (finding Faretta was not controlling where defendant did not request that he be permitted to represent himself but, instead, requested on the day of trial that his present attorney be fired and that a new one be appointed); State v. Shumaker, 914 So.2d 1156, 1162 (La.Ct.App. 2005) (holding defendant's reliance on Faretta, was misplaced and stating "defendant never expressly asked that he be allowed self-representation. He simply indicated that he wanted to fire his counsel. That statement certainly does not reach a clear and unequivocal expression requesting the right to represent oneself as required by Faretta.").

Accordingly, Faretta and its prophylactic warnings were not required. The trial court had no reason to fully explore whether the defendant knew the dangers of self-representation because the defendant was attempting to force the trial court's hand by refusing to cooperate with appointed counsel, thereby creating a conflict, and at the same time refusing to proceed *pro se*.

The trial court should not have been required to participate in Appellant's clear scheme to obtain a delay in the remainder of trial, obtain a mistrial, or obtain a reversal of his conviction based solely on his own choices and behavior. Therefore, the trial court did not err in failing to conduct a proper Faretta hearing or give the appropriate advisements because they were not required under the unique circumstances of this case.

Further, to the extent they were required, the trial court made Appellant well aware of the dangers of self-representation. The trial court indicated: "I will consider relieving Mr. Chambers as your attorney of record, if you want, but you will be required to proceed *pro se* for the remainder of this trial, sir." (T.168; R.123). Appellant responded: "If that's what I got to do, that's what I got to do." (T.169; R.124). The following colloquy then occurs:

THE COURT: You understand that you have a right to have an attorney represent you?

DEFENDANT MCCALL: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And you understand that if you decide and determine - - -

DEFENDANT MCCALL: I don't want him to represent me, though.

THE COURT: You understand that if you decide to represent yourself you assume certain risks in doing so, do you understand?

DEFENDANT MCCALL: I do, but I'm not going to stand here and not have an attorney present when I have a constitutional right to have a lawyer.

(T.169; R.124). Later, the trial court again asks: "You understand that you would be proceeding on your own and assume certain risks because you may not have the knowledge and experience that an attorney can afford you in the trial of a case." Appellant responded: "I understand that." (T.172-173; R.127-128). Appellant then again indicated he wanted new counsel and a

continuance to hire new counsel instead of either allowing Mr. Chambers to proceed as counsel or proceeding *pro se*. However, the trial court made certain Appellant was warned of the dangers of proceeding *pro se* and Appellant even acknowledged those risks. Accordingly, to the extent Faretta warnings were even required, the trial court explained the dangers and risks to Appellant, he just refused to cooperate with the trial court and continued making it clear the only option he was willing to accept was a continuance in the middle of trial to get a new attorney.

Waiver by Conduct and Forfeiture

First, it should be noted Appellant has not challenged the trial court's determination his conduct—either by waiver or forfeiture—lead to the removal of appointed counsel and his being required to proceed *pro se*. The trial court specifically noted Appellant's sole purpose in making the motion to relieve counsel and for a continuance was "to delay and hinder the administration of justice." (T.176; R.131). The trial court found and explained Appellant was being required to proceed *pro se* because of his conduct: "You are in an uncomfortable position as a consequence of your own conduct. . . . As the sole and exclusive consequence of your own conduct." (T.177-178; R.133). These rulings have not been challenged by Appellant. As a result, the propriety of the trial court's decision to require Appellant to proceed *pro se* with standby counsel is not properly before the Court. See Dreher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015) ("[S]hould the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a court's decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case."); Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will

become the law of the case.”); State v. Branham, 392 S.C. 225, 231, 708 S.E.2d 806, 809 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding unappealed alternate ruling the law of the case).

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